No. 62468
IN THE
SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

SUSAN REEVES,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed
May 23 2014 10:20 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

V.

DIVISION OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS; AND NEVADA DEPARTMENT
OF ADMINISTRATION,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF
(Supplement To Appellant's Previously Filed 3/14/13 Proper Person Appeal
Statement)

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court
Case No. A644791 (Dept. 4)

LIONEL SAWYER & COLLINS
Maximiliano D. Couvillier, Esq.
Nevada Bar No.: 7661
300 S. Fourth Street, Ste. 1700
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone (702) 383-8888
mcouvillier@lionelsawyer.com

In conjunction with

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis For Supreme Court Jurisdiction

The basis for Nevada Supreme Court jurisdiction over this appeal is NRS 233B.150, which provides: "An aggrieved party may obtain a review of any final judgment of the district court by appeal to the Supreme Court. The appeal shall be taken as in other civil cases." Article 6, section 4 of the Nevada Constitution further provides, in relevant part, that the Nevada Supreme Court "shall have appellate jurisdiction in all civil cases arising in district courts." *Nevada Const. art. 6, §4. See also State, Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Bremer*, 113 Nev. 805, 942 P.2d 145 (Nev. 1997)(Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts on judicial review of administrative proceedings).

B. File Dates Establishing The Timeliness Of Appeal

The Notice of Entry of Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review was filed and served (by regular U.S. Mail) on December 28, 2012. *See Trial Court Record ("TCR") Vol. 5 at 1179-1183.*¹ Within 30 days thereafter, the appellant filed her *pro per* Notice of Appeal of said order with the District Court Clerk on January 15, 2013. *See TRC Vol. 5 at 1185-1186.*

¹ Pursuant to the Court's December 23, 2013, *Order Directing Compliance With NRAP 9 And Setting Briefing Schedule*, Appellant elects to cite to the trial court record in lieu of filing a separate appendix.

On October 17, 2013, this Court entered an Order Regarding Pro Bono Counsel, finding that "this court has determined that the appointment of pro bono counsel to represent appellant would assist this court in reviewing this appeal."

C. Appeal Is From A Final Order Or Judgment

This appeal is from a final Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review. *See TCR Vol. 5 at 1179-1183.*

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellant Susan Reeves ("Appellant Reeves") submits the following issues for which she seeks resolution:

1. Whether Appellant Reeves is entitled to a benefit penalty pursuant to NRS 616D.120?
2. Alternatively, whether the administrative process was so unfair that it tainted the substantive treatment and disposition of Appellant Reeves' worker's compensation claim so that this Court should vacate all administrative determinations below and issue a remand for corrective, fair proceedings?

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Nature of Case

The case arises from a motor vehicle accident suffered by Appellant Reeves on September 25, 1998, while she was employed by Bally's Casino. *See TCR Vol.*

I at 110. This incident has led to considerable litigation and given rise to numerous issues. See e.g, *Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino v. Reeves*, 113 Nev. 926, 948 P.2d 1200 (1997); *Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino v. Reeves*, 112 Nev. 1487, 929 P.2d 936 (1996); *Reeves v. Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 63950 (filed September 5, 2013); *Reeves vs. Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 62981 (filed April 11, 2013).

This appeal only concerns the two issues presented for review that are identified above. Appellant Reeves submits that the primary issue of whether she is entitled to a benefit penalty under NRS 616D.120 depends on a determination of whether her worker's compensation claim was rightfully terminated, which is pending in the separate appeal before this Court in the matter captioned *Reeves vs. Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 62981 (filed April 11, 2013). If the Court in Case No. 62981 reverses the corresponding administrative decision and concludes that Appellant Reeves' claim was wrongfully terminated, then the Court should accordingly reverse the administrative decision in this appeal which denied Appellant Reeves benefit penalty because, *inter alia*, her claim had been terminated. Thus, Appellant Reeves respectfully requests the Court to stay the determination of whether she is entitled

to a benefit penalty under NRS 616D.120 until after it has first determined whether her worker's compensation claim was properly terminated the 62981 matter.²

Alternatively, Appellant Reeves asks the Court to consider whether the underlying administrative determinations should be vacated to remedy an unfair administrative process that prejudiced her substantive rights, which included a disturbing meeting between the insurance company and Appellant Reeves' doctor:

- at which the insurance company barred Appellant Reeves and her then counsel from either participating or even witnessing; and
- during which the insurance company somehow influenced Appellant Reeves' doctor into completely reversing his prognosis and suddenly opining that she could return to work - after he had time and again concluded that Appellant Reeves could not return to work - which Respondent Department of Industrial Relations ("DIR") then relied on

² This Court's October 17, 2013, Order Regarding Pro Bono Counsel included what appeared to be a summary of the matter which stated that "the appeals officer dismissed the matter for lack of jurisdiction, finding the appellant had not requested a benefit penalty, *see* NRS 616D.140, NRS 616D.120." Appellant Reeves respectfully states that the record demonstrates that she timely requested a benefit penalty under NRS 616D.120, but that the appeals officer refused to grant such penalty finding that no grounds existed to impose such penalty because, *inter alia*, Appellant Reeves' worker's compensation claim had been terminated and such termination had been upheld in separate proceedings. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 214 (Doc. Bates 00038)*.

to affirm denial of worker's compensation benefits to Appellant Reeves and eventually affirm the closure of her claim altogether.

The DIR also failed to consider whether the insurance company's false communication log about the disturbing *ex parte* meeting that it had with Appellant Reeves' doctor - a log the insurance company hastily produced only after Appellant Reeves raised the issue that no log existed - violated NRS 616D.330.

B. Course of Proceedings And Disposition Of Administrative Proceedings

On February 28, 2010, Appellant Reeves lodged a complaint with DIR regarding the *ex parte* and unfair communications between CCMSI and her physician and also alleging that the CCMSI did not comply with NRS 616D.330, which required CCMSI to provide a compliant communication log of such communications. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 193 (Doc. Bates 000017)*. DIR responded to Appellant Reeves on April 26, 2010 (*see TCR Vol. 1 at 208-210, Docs. Bates 00032-34*), but seemingly ignored Appellant Reeves' complaint and concerns. Instead, the DIR determined that no violations of NRS 616D.330 occurred because CCMSI had purportedly produced a "complete copy of [Appellant Reeves'] industrial injury claim file." *See TCR Vol. 1 at 210, Doc. Bates 00034*). DIR did not address: (a) the demonstrable unfairness of not only being excluded from participating in but even witnessing discussions between her doctor and CCMSI;

(b) the resulting highly suspicious reversal of prognosis by Appellant Reeves' doctor after such meeting; and (c) the patently false communication log concocted by CCMSI in a veiled, after-the-fact effort to try to comply with NRS 616D.330. Appellant Reeves alerted DIR of such omissions on April 29, 2010, and on September 11, 2010. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 195 (Docs. Bates 00019-20) and TCR Vol. 1 at 203-204 (Docs. Bates 00027-28)*. DIR responded to Appellant Reeves on October 1, 2010 ("10/1/10 Determination"), but again did not address her substantive grievances and the unfair process. Instead, the DIR simply dismissed Appellant Reeves' grievances and affirmed its April 26, 2010, determination.

On June 1, 2010, Appellant Reeves lodged a complaint with DIR alleging, *inter alia*, that she was entitled to a benefit penalty pursuant to NRS 616D.120 because CCMSI failed to timely make temporary total disability ("TTD") payments. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 197-197 (Doc. Bates 00021-22)*. The DIR responded to her complaint on July 22, 2010 ("07/22/10 Determination"), and, among other things, determined that Appellant Reeves was not entitled to a benefit penalty under NRS 616D.120 because there were no violations of NRS 616D.120. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 211-215 (Docs. Bates 00035-39)*. Relevant here, the DIR found no delays in payments of TTD in violation of NRS 616D.120 because CCMSI had closed Appellant Reeves' worker's compensation claim and that such closure had

been affirmed in separate proceedings by an Administrative Hearing Officer and Appeals Officer. *Id.* at 214 (*Doc. Bates 00038*).

Appellant Reeves appealed the DIR's 07/22/10 and 10/01/10 Determinations to the Department of Administration Appeals Office and the Appeals Officer held an evidentiary hearing on April 13, 2011. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 15-85*. On June 15, 2011, the Appeals Officer entered an order ("06/15/11 ADM APPEAL ORDER") granting the DIR's motion for summary judgment and affirming the DIR's 07/22/10 and 10/01/10 Determinations, finding that "[t]here is no evidence that the administrator delayed in paying claimant TTD in this claim" and relying on the fact that CCMSI was not obligated to make TTD payments because Appellant Reeves' worker's compensation claim had been closed. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 110-112 (Doc. marked "Doc0008")*. The Appeals Officer did not make any findings regarding CCMSI's false log, whether CCMSI complied with NRS 616D.130 or about the unfair process that victimized Appellant Reeves. *Id.* On June 24, 2011, Appellant Reeves filed a Petition For Rehearing requesting reconsideration of the 06/15/11 ADM APPEAL ORDER. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 88-92*. On June 29, 2011, the Appeals Officer denied Appellant Reeves' Petition for Rehearing. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 86 (Doc. marked "Doc004")*.

C. Course of Proceedings And Disposition At District Court Level

On July 12, 2011, Appellant Reeves filed a Petition for Judicial Review in the Eighth Judicial District Court ("District Court"). *See TCR Vol. 1 at 1-3*. On December 24, 2012, after a hearing on Appellant Reeves' Petition for Judicial Review, the District Court entered an order denying Appellant Reeves' petition and affirming the 06/15/11 ADM APPEAL ORDER. *See TCR Vol. 5 at 1179-1183*.³

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 25, 1998, Appellant Reeves was the victim of a motor vehicle accident while she was employed by Bally's Casino. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 110*. The accident has had a negative and profound impact on Appellant Reeves, who has required constant medical treatment ever since. As may be gleaned from the date of the accident to the date of these proceedings, Appellant Reeves has fought vigorously for her worker compensation rights. In this appeal, Appellant Reeves seeks review of whether she is entitled to a benefit penalty because she was not paid TTD benefits and whether she was subjected to an unfair process that was so prejudicial that it compromised her substantive rights.

The relevant facts of this appeal may be traced back to a January 21, 2004, letter by Appellant Reeves' then attorney requesting payment of TTD benefits from

³ According to the District Court's December 24, 2012, Order, the hearing on Appellant Reeves' Petition for Judicial Review occurred on December 13, 2012. After Appellant Reeves filed her Request for Transcript of Proceedings on January 6, 2014, Department 4 Court Reporter informed undersigned counsel for Appellant Reeves that there is no transcript of that December 13 hearing.

CCMSI. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 393-394 (Docs. Bates 00049-50)*. CCMSI responded on March 16, 2004, and requested that Appellant Reeves supply a certification of disability from her physicians to support her claim for TTD benefits. *See Vol. 2 at 406 (Doc. Bates 000062)*.

Appellant Reeves engaged in considerable efforts to provide CCMSI evidence of her disability and that she was unable to return to work. By letter dated April 13, 2004, Dr. George A. Petroff ("Dr. Petroff"), Appellant Reeves' treating physician, made the following conclusions:

- "It is doubtful whether [Appellant Reeves] could have worked on any regular basis through the period of 1998 to the present."
- "Superimposed neck problems became prominent in the last couple of years. This could further make it difficult to return to the work force."

See TCR Vol. 2 at 321 (Doc. Bates 000032).

Similarly, Dr. Petroff sent a letter to CCMSI dated May 18, 2004, in which he again concludes that Appellant Reeves is unable to work:

- "From a medical standpoint, with respect to the pre-accident job description, I suspect the patient will not be able to return to gainful employment based on the objective evidence of her degenerative cervical spine disease."

See TCR Vol. 2 at 322-23 (Doc Bates. 000033-34)(emphasis added).

CCMSI, however, did not accept Dr. Petroff's conclusions. Instead, it demanded a face-to-face meeting with Dr. Petroff, which occurred on June 29, 2004. Appellant Reeves and her then attorney arrived at that meeting, but CCMSI demanded to meet with Dr. Petroff alone and prohibited Appellant Reeves and her attorney from being present. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 261-62.* Manifestly, CCMSI's insistence upon concealing its discussions with Appellant Reeves' treating physician from both Appellant Reeves and her counsel was unfair and highly suspicious and raises extremely serious due process questions. *See e.g., Willner v. Committee on Character and Fitness, 373 U.S. 96, 83 S.Ct. 1175 (1963)*(administrative body which relied, even partially, on *ex parte* evidence in determining substantive rights of party violated procedural due process).

Indeed, after the clandestine meeting between CCMSI and Dr. Petroff, Dr. Petroff completely reversed his prognosis about Appellant Reeves' ability to work. Just one month prior to the coerced secret meeting with CCMSI, Dr. Petroff clearly and unequivocally concluded that Appellant Reeves would not be able to return to gainful employment. After the closed-door meeting with CCMSI, CCMSI somehow turned Dr. Petroff completely around and he suddenly concluded that "it would be reasonable to recommend the patient undergo a trial back to work, sedentary, under appropriate adaptive conditions, including no lifting, carrying or pulling more than five pounds." *See TCR Vol. 2 at 262.*

CCMSI then relied on Dr. Petroff's suspiciously changed conclusion and, on July 21, 2004, denied Appellant Reeves' request for TTD benefits. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 263*. Obviously, both disturbed and concerned by the circumstances, Appellant Reeves requested CCMSI to produce copies of all communications with Dr. Petroff and the log pursuant to NRS 616D.330. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 303 (Doc. Bates 00014)*. NRS 616D.330 provides:

1. An insurer, an employer, an organization for managed care, a third-party administrator or the representative of any of those persons, the Nevada Attorney for Injured Workers or an attorney or other compensated representative of an injured employee shall not initiate:

(a) Any oral communication relating to the medical disposition of the claim of an injured employee with the injured employee's examining or treating physician or chiropractor unless the initiator of the oral communication:

(1) Maintains, in written form or in a form from which a written record may be produced, a log that includes the date, time and subject matter of the communication; and

(2) Makes the log available, upon request, to each insurer, organization for managed care and third-party administrator interested in the claim or the representative of each of those persons, the Administrator and the injured employee, the injured employee's representative and the injured employee's employer; or

(b) Any written communication relating to the medical disposition of the claim with the injured employee's examining or treating physician or chiropractor unless a copy of the communication is submitted to the injured employee or the injured employee's representative in a timely manner.

2. If the Administrator determines that a person has violated the provisions of this section, the Administrator shall:

(a) For an initial violation, issue a notice of correction.

(b) For a second violation, impose an administrative fine of not more than \$250.

(c) For a third or subsequent violation, impose an administrative fine of not more than \$1,000.

Id.

In response to her request, Appellant Reeves was provided with a document captioned "Claim File Log of Oral Communication." *See TCR Vol. 2 at 298 (Doc. Bates 000009).* The very first entry in the so-called log is a purported communication with a "Jeff Dietich, PT," dated September 8, 2006. After said entry is a purported entry of the June 29, 2004, closed-door meeting with Dr. Petroff which occurred two years prior to the first log entry:

CLAIM FILE
LOG OF
ORAL COMMUNICATION

WORKERS' COMPENSATION

Claimant's Name: Susan Reeves	Claim Number: 88801 H243724
Claimant's Attorney:	Treating Physician:
DATE	ACTIVITY
9/8/06	Adjuster phone call to Jeff Dietrich, PT
6/29/04	Medical staffing with adjuster, supervisor, Dr. Louis Martillaro, Dr. Petroff, defense attorney, claimant, and claimant's husband

See TCR Vol. 2 at 298 (Doc. Bates 000009). The so-called "Claim File Log of Oral Communication" is false. First, it states that claimant and claimant's husband were present at the meeting when, in fact, CCMSI expressly prohibited them from attending. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 261-62.* Second, the purported entry of the communication with Dr. Petroff was manifestly created well over a year and a half after-the-fact.

Appellant Reeves appealed the July 21, 2004, denial of her TTD benefits. However, while the entire process was unfair and tainted by CCMSI's clandestine misconduct and false and fraudulent misrepresentation, Appellant Reeves ultimately lost her appeal due to an unfortunate late filing of her notice of appeal to the Administrative Appeals Officer. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 265-69* (January 20, 2006, Appeals Officer Decision and Order).⁴

Appellant Reeves suffered another blow on September 8, 2006, when her worker's compensation claim was closed altogether. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 264.* In separate proceedings, the closure of Appellant Reeves' claim was affirmed by the Appeals Officer (*see TCR Vol. 2 at 270-76*) and the District Court, and it is

⁴ While the issue is not before this Court, Appellant Reeves submits that her error in timing is understandable and should have been considered excusable neglect because she was juggling several other appeals seeking to rectify a host of other issues in which her claim was handled. *See TCR Vol. 2 at 266* (discussing at least three different appeals being contemporaneously pursued by Appellant Reeves).

currently pending in the matter captioned *Reeves vs. Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 62981 (filed April 11, 2013).

The DIR then relied on Dr. Petroff's highly suspicious and stunning June 29, 2004, reversed prognosis (*see TCR Vol. 1 at 213, Doc. Bates 00037*) and the fact that Appellant Reeves' worker's compensation claim had been closed to deny her benefit penalties under NRS 616D.120 (*see id.; see also TCR Vol. 1 at 217-218 (Doc. Bates 000041-42)(10/01/10 Determination)*).

As the record shows, the DIR's determination of Appellant Reeves' substantive rights was infected by an unfair, unjust, suspicious and fraudulent process. Appellant Reeves did not even get a semblance of a fair process as the DIR also failed to make any findings regarding whether the false "Claim File Log of Oral Communication" even complied with NRS 616D.330. *See TCR Vol. 1 at 211-215 (Doc. Bates 00035-39)(07/22/10 Determination); TCR Vol. 1 at 217-218 (Doc. Bates 000041-42)(10/01/10 Determination); TCR Vol. 1 at 88-92 (06/15/11 ADM APPEAL ORDER); and TCR Vol. 5 at 1179-1183 (District Court's December 24, 2012, Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review)*. *See NRS 233B.125 (final administrative orders must set forth separate factual findings and conclusions of law)*.

//

//

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The Court should stay making a determination as to whether Appellant Reeves is entitled to a benefit penalty under NRS 616D.120 until it determines whether her worker's compensation claim was properly closed in the matter captioned *Reeves vs. Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 62981 (filed April 11, 2013).

2. The procedural wrongs which tainted the substantive resolution of Appellant Reeves' worker's compensation rights sufficiently prejudiced Appellant Reeves' rights and interests that the Court should vacate the administrative decisions below. CCMSI disturbingly abused its power to keep Appellant Reeves and her counsel not only from participating in CCMSI's discussions with her treating physician but from witnessing such discussions. The result of such clandestine discussions was a complete reversal of prognosis by Appellant Reeves' treating physician regarding her ability to return to work. Before the secret meeting, Appellant Reeves' treating physician opined several times that Appellant Reeves could not return to work. After the *ex parte* meeting demanded by CCMSI, Appellant Reeves' treating physician suddenly opined that she could return to work. The DIR then accepted - without question - the highly suspicious reversed prognosis procured by CCMSI to affirm CCMSI's denial of Appellant Reeves' benefits and, ultimately, claim closure.

VI. ARGUMENT

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

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