1	IN THE SUPPEME COURT	Γ OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		TOP THE STATE OF NEVADA
3	SUSAN REEVES	Electronically Filed
5	Appellant, vs.	Jul 21 2014 02:34 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
6		·
7	DIVISION OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, and DEPARTMENT OF	Supreme Court Case No.: 62468 District Court Case No.: A-11-644791-J
8	ADMINISTRATION, APPEALS OFFICER, and Agency of the State of	(Request for Oral Argument)
9	Nevada,	(Request for Oral Argument)
10	Respondents.	
11		
12	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF	
13		,
14	MAXIMILIANO D. COUVILLIER, ESO	Q. DALTON L. HOOKS, JR., ESQ.
15 16	NEVADA BAR NO.: 7661	NEVADA BAR NO.: 8121

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

### VIII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was no error of law or abuse of discretion on the part of the Appeals

Officer with respect to the granting an order for summary judgment as there were no
dispute as to the facts of the case. DIR investigated REEVES' administrative

complaint and found no violation because no TTD was owed; hence, no benefit

penalty to be levied. Subsequently, REEVES appealed to Appeals Office. The

Appeals Officer weighed the evidence before her and affirmed DIR's determination.

Although both this Honorable Court and the District Court may decide pure legal questions without deference to an agency determination, an agency's conclusions of law which are closely related to the agency's view of the facts are entitled to deference and should not be disturbed if they are supported by substantial evidence. This case and the Appeals Officer's decision turned on her determination regarding factual conclusions, and as such, those determinations must be given deference.

Despite REEVES' arguments as presented in her Opening Brief, the findings and decision of the Appeals Officer were supported by substantial evidence which could never be properly characterized as an abuse of the Appeals Officer's discretion. The Appeals Officer's conclusions were consistent with the evidence presented and the applicable law governing the case. Accordingly, this Court should not disturb the Appeals Officer's determination, and must affirm the District Court's denial of REEVES' Petition for Judicial Review.

### IX. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court's role in reviewing an administrative decision is identical to that of the district court. *See Titanium Metals Corp. v. Clark County*, 99 Nev. 397, 399, 663 P.2d 355, 357 (1983). A reviewing court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency in regard to questions of fact. *See* NRS 233B.135(3). The standard of review is whether the agency's decision was clearly erroneous or an arbitrary abuse of discretion. *See* NRS 233B.135(3)(e) and (f); *Collett Electric v. Dubovik*, 112 Nev. 193, 196, 911 P.2d 1192, 1195 (1996). The decision of the agency will be affirmed if substantial evidence exists to support it. *See SIIS v. Swinney*, 103 Nev. 17, 20, 731 P.2d 359, 361 (1987). The Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, as contained in NRS 233B, outlines the standard for review to be used when conducting a judicial review of a final decision of an agency. NRS 233B.135 states, in relevant part, the following:

- 1. Judicial review of a final decision of an agency must be:
- (a) Conducted by the court without a jury; and
- (b) Confined to the record.

In cases concerning alleged irregularities in procedure before an agency that are not shown in the record, the court may receive evidence concerning the irregularities.

- 2. The final decision of the agency shall be deemed reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in whole or in part by the court. The burden of proof is on the party attacking or resisting the decision to show that the final decision is invalid pursuant to subsection 3.
- 3. The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact. The court may remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the final decision of the agency is:
  - (a) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
  - (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
  - (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;
  - (d) Affected by other error of law;
- (e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.

  See NRS 233B.135.

In reviewing of a petition for relief from an administrative decision, the District Court may not disturb the decision of an Appeals Officer unless the decision was clearly erroneous or constituted an abuse of discretion. *See Nevada Indus. Comm'n v. Reese*, 93 Nev. 115, 560 P.2d 1352 (1977). With specific regard to factual determinations, the decision of the Appeals Officer, as the initial trier of fact, are conclusive so long as they are supported by evidence which a reasonable mind would consider to be sufficient to support the Appeal Officer's conclusion. *See Nevada Indus. Comm'n v. Williams*, 91 Nev. 686, 541 P.2d 905 (1975). The court may not substitute its own judgment as to the weight of evidence, but rather is limited to determining whether the Appeals Officer's determination was arbitrary or capricious. *See McCracken v. Fancy*, 98 Nev. 30, 639 P.2d 255 (1982).

### X. ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly denied the Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review after finding the Appeals Officer's Decision was without error of law or abuse of discretion.

First, REEVES cites to inapplicable law regarding the standard for deciding administrative appeals under Nevada workers' compensation law. *See* REEVES' Supplemental Brief at pg. 18, *Southwest Gas Corp. v. Woods,* 108 Nev. 11, 14-15, 823 P.2d 288, 290 (Nev. 1992). REEVES avers that the Nevada workers' compensation statutes must be construed broadly and liberally in favor of the injured worker. *See id.* 

However, the Nevada Legislature removed this common law interpretation in 1993. *See* NRS 616A.010 (2013) (emphasis added). Further, despite REEVES' assertions to the contrary, NRS 616A.010 provides that the workers compensation statute must not be interpreted "broadly or liberally in favor of an injured or disabled employee." *See* NRS 616A.010(4) (2013). Indeed, NRS 616A.010(2) provides in relevant part that:

NRS 616A.010 Legislative declarations: Statutory construction; repudiation of common law; basis of provisions; balanced interpretation required. The Legislature hereby determines and declares that:

- 1. The provisions of <u>chapters 616A</u> to <u>617</u>, inclusive, of NRS must be interpreted and construed to ensure the quick and efficient payment of compensation to employees who are injured or disabled at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of those chapters;
- 2. A claim for compensation filed pursuant to the provisions of <u>chapters 616A</u> to <u>616D</u>, inclusive, or chapter <u>617</u> of NRS must be decided on its merit and not according to the principle of common law that requires statutes governing workers' compensation to be liberally construed because they are remedial in nature;
- 3. The provisions of <u>chapters 616A</u> to <u>617</u>, inclusive, of NRS are based on a renunciation of the rights and defenses of employers and employees recognized at common law; and
- 4. For the accomplishment of these purposes, the provisions of chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS must not be interpreted or construed broadly or liberally in favor of an employee who is injured or disabled or the dependents of the employee, or in such a manner as to favor the rights and interests of an employer over the rights and interests of an employee who is injured or disabled or his or her dependents.

(Added to NRS by 1993, 660)—(Substituted in revision for NRS 616.012)

See NRS 616A.010 (emphasis added).

The findings and decision of the Appeals Officer in this matter were not arbitrary or capricious and were not in abuse of the Appeals Officer's discretion. As explained more fully below, the Appeals Officer made a determination which was consistent with the controlling statutory law, as well as the overwhelming evidence presented. As such, the case law cited by REEVES, *supra*, should be disregarded.

Also, despite REEVES' assertion regarding the jurisdiction of the department of administration, the Appeals Officer was well within her jurisdiction under NRS 616 and 617 to review the merits of REEVES' complaints to DIR because REEVES had appealed a DIR determination to the Appeals Officer. Moreover, the consolidation of the REEVES' appeals had no negative affect on the outcome of her appeal, and as such, her objection to the consolidation is rendered moot. Because the Appeals Officer's determination is consistent with Nevada law, the denial of REEVES' Petition for Judicial Review must be denied.

## A. The Appeals Officer's Granting of the Motion for Summary Judgment Was Not in Error or An Abuse of Discretion

The Appeals Officer did not act outside of her discretion by affirming DIR's determinations of 07/22/10 and 10/01/10. Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact which could potentially resolve the matter in the non-moving party's favor. *See Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

. . .

In accordance with *Wood*, summary judgment is not precluded on the basis that there is the "slightest doubt as to the operative facts." *See id*. Rather, the non-moving party "must, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine factual issue." *See id*. The non-moving party is not permitted to rely upon general allegations and conclusions, nor to rely "on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation and conjecture." *See id* citing *Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers*, *Inc.*, 118 Nev. 706, 713, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002).

In this case, the Appeals Officer appropriately granted DIR's Motion for Summary Judgment because there was no genuine issue of material fact presented. In other words, there was "no factual basis to support a finding that the administrator delayed in paying the REEVES TTD." *See* TCR, Volume 1, at pp. 110-111. Therefore, there was no violation of NRS 616D.120, no benefit penalty, and no abuse of discretion.

# B. There Was No Violation of NRS 616D.120 Because The Administrator Had Not Delayed In Paying REEVES TTD Benefits, and Therefore, No Benefit Penalty Was Warranted.

Under the facts of this case, REEVES' complaint regarding unpaid TTD benefits under the underlying administrative Appeal No. 78016-SL did not justify a benefit penalty. Under NRS 616D.120, a benefit penalty is awarded to a claimant in cases where an insurer, third party administrator, etc. has engaged in conduct as described in NRS 616D.120(1)(a-e)(h-i). However, despite REEVES' assertions to the contrary, this type of conduct did not occur in this case. Thus, a benefit penalty was not warranted.

In her complaint to DIR, REEVES alleged that Respondent CCMSI, the third party administrator for Bally's at the time of the REEVESs injury, violated NRS 616D.120 by failing to pay her TTD benefits in accordance with the Appeals Officer's 12/01/03 Decision and Order. *See id*, Volume 1 at pp. 197-201. However, the Appeals Officer's 12/01/03 Decision and Order simply reversed claim closure. *See id*, Volume 2 at pp. 375-378. Importantly, said Decision and Order did not order TTD benefits. *See id*.

After the 12/01/03 Decision and Order, REEVES' attorney requested TTD benefits in correspondence dated 01/21/04. *See id* at pp. 393-394. In response to her request, pursuant to NRS 616C.475, the Respondent CCMSI requested REEVES provide a certification of disability from her physician for the time period in which she had requested TTD benefits. *See id* at pg. 406, and NRS 616C.475. Because REEVES never provided said certificates, the Respondent CCMSI correctly did not pay the requested TTD benefits. The Respondent CCMSI's determination not to pay TTD benefits was thereafter appealed by REEVES, and was affirmed by the Hearing Officer, the Appeals Officer, the District Court, and is now pending before the Nevada Supreme Court under Case No. 62981. *See id* at pp. 379-383.

28 .

Despite this procedural status, upon receipt of REEVES' complaint, DIR undertook the investigation of the REEVES' complaint. *See id* at pp. 441-442. In completing its investigation, DIR sent a letter to CCMSI requesting its response to the alleged NRS 616D.120 violation. *See id*. Respondent CCMSI provided the requested response on 06/29/10. *See id* at pg. 444. After DIR completed its investigation, it issued a determination letter dated 07/22/10 to REEVES outlining its findings of fact, and concluding that there had been no violation of NRS 616D.120. *See id* at pp. 445-448. Specifically, DIR indicated, as stated above, that the issue of TTD benefits had been affirmed by the Hearing Officer and Appeals Officer, and at that time, was before the District Court. *See id*. Thus, DIR informed the REEVES that no benefit penalty was warranted.

In regards to this issue, REEVES' claims regarding collaboration or collusion between the Respondent CCMSI and DIR are completely without merit. To assert that DIR's request for a response to the alleged violation from the Respondent CCMSI illustrates collaboration or collusion is absurd. As part of its investigation into complaints, DIR obtains statements from the complainant and the accused party, as well as reviewing the evidence, in order to come to a determination. This is proper investigation procedure.

• •

. . .

28 | · ·

Based on the facts of this case and DIR's investigation, it is clear that there was no misconduct supporting the imposition of a benefit penalty. Hence, the Appeals Officer appropriately granted DIR's Motion for Summary Judgment because there was "no factual basis to support a finding that the administrator delayed in paying the REEVES TTD." *See id*, Volume 1at pp. 110-111.

### C. <u>REEVES' Appeal of DIR's 10/01/10 Letter Was Improper Because Said Letter Contained No Appeal Rights and Was Purely Informative</u>

DIR's 10/01/10 letter to REEVES was for information purposes only, and did not carry with it any appeal rights. Therefore, summary judgment regarding this appeal was appropriate. On 02/28/10, REEVES wrote a letter to DIR requesting assistance in gathering certain communications from her insurer. *See id*, Volume 2 at pg. 248.

In letters dated 04/26/10 and 10/01/10, DIR explained to REEVES that it had investigated her 02/28/10 request and had determined that Respondent CCMSI had provided REEVES with all the requested information. *See id* at pp. 246-247; 249-250. The 10/01/10 correspondence, like the 04/26/10 letter, merely restated the various complaints that REEVES had made regarding the handling of her claim and explained that these issues had previously been dealt with under administrative Appeal 78016-SL by the Appeals Officer. *See id*.

. .

27 \| \cdots

28 | · ·

Because this letter was purely information only, there was no appeal rights afforded thereto. Thus, REEVES' complaint and appeal regarding this 10/01/10 information letter was improper and was appropriately dismissed pursuant to the Motion for Summary Judgment. See id, Volume 1at pp. 110-111.

#### XI. **CONCLUSION**

The Appellant has failed to demonstrate, in any substantive way, that the Appeals Officer's determination was clearly erroneous or an abuse of discretion. As there were no dispute as to the material facts of this matter related TTD, DIR's investigation into REEVES' complaint was appropriately and properly completed, and its conclusion that no violations had occurred was, therefore, proper. Further, DIR's 10/01/10 letter to REEVES was for information purposes only, and did not carry with it any appeal rights. Therefore, summary judgment regarding the REEVES' appeals was appropriate. Hence, the Appeals Officer's Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment is in no way either capricious or inequitable, and in fact, represented an appropriate exercise of her statutory duty.

Wherefore, Respondents, CCMSI, respectfully requests that the Supreme Court of Nevada provide the following relief:

- 1. That the Nevada Supreme Court AFFIRM the District Court's denial of REEVES' Petition for Judicial Review dated 12/24/12, and AFFIRM the Appeals Officer's Order Granting Summary Judgment dated 06/15/11.
- 2. That the Nevada Supreme Court deny REEVES' request for a stay of this Decision.